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September 16, 2021
SOLICITATION ADDENDUM NO. 2

ITB 21-0006
Mountainside High School Field Turf Remediation

THE FOLLOWING CHANGES/ADDITIONS TO THE ABOVE CITED SOLICITATION ARE ANNOUNCED:

This Addendum modifies the Invitation to Bid (ITB) document(s) only to the extent indicated herein. All other areas not changed or 
otherwise modified by this Addendum shall remain in full force and effect. This  Addendum is hereby made an integral part of the 
ITB document. Bidder must be responsive to any requirements of this Addendum as if the requirements were set forth in the ITB. 
Failure to do so may result in Bid rejection. See the ITB regarding requests for clarification or change and protests of this 
Addendum, and the deadlines for the foregoing.

This addendum is to be acknowledged in the space provided on the Bidder Certification form supplied in the solicitation document. 
Failure to acknowledge receipt of this addendum may be cause to reject your offer.

The closing date REMAINS UNCHANGED: 
September 21, 2021 at 2:00 PM Pacific Time

QUESTIONS/ANSWERS:

QUESTION: Do you have any Bentonite reports? Boring or Expansion?
ANSWER: Attached is the field report from Carlson Testing for borings taken. (G1095187 Geotechnical Data Report)

QUESTION: What is the concrete thickness in the area between the fields? For equipment?
ANSWER: The concrete is vehicle rated - 6" thick with #4 rebar @ 24" oc.

QUESTION: Is there a geogrid available?
ANSWER: Geogrid was used in the lock and load retaining walls near the collection trenches. It is not anticipated that the 

work will impact those grids. Refer to Addendum #1- Background Submittal for the geogrid on the wall. 

QUESTION: What utilities are running across? Is Electrical fed from the slab?
ANSWER: No, utilities are known to be running across the trenches with the exception of the scoreboard that may be in 

the vicinity of the work. The electrical conduits to the scoreboard run from the east storage building under the 
slab to the scoreboard.
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QUESTION: Where is the nearest water source? Access?
ANSWER: The nearest water spigot is on the concessions building at the southeast side of the varsity field.
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QUESTION: Do you have details for the footings around the sign?
ANSWER: The softball scoreboard footing submittal is attached showing the details. 

QUESTION: Clarify limits of civil contractor's work in relation to Certified Turf Contractor.  Does civil 
contractor remove, stockpile and replace drain rock layer beneath turf surface and brock 
pad?  Is the removal and replacement of drain rock intended to be performed by a Certified 
Turf Contractor?

ANSWER: All work below the turf and brock pad may be performed by the contractor with approval by the Certified Turf 
Contractor, engineer of records, and owner’s representative(s). All material removed shall be placed properly 
along with any additional rock or backfill material per the details. No, however the Certified Turf Contractor 
shall approve the completed work prior to placing the brock pad and turf.

QUESTION: Please confirm existing concrete pavement is capable of supporting the weight of a 7-yard 
concrete delivery truck

ANSWER: Exact weights of 7-yard concrete delivery truck are not known, however, the concrete pavement was designed 
to accommodate vehicular access for maintenance. Contractor will be responsible for damage to the existing 
concrete and therefore shall take precautions to minimize damage.

QUESTION: General Note 6 on sheet C101 calls for protective sheeting and equipment to be on turf surface for maximum 4-
hours (4-hours on and 4-hours off).  Installation of fabric and steel sheets for heavy construction traffic is a time-
consuming operation.  It seems virtually impossible to construct the surface protection mat any substantial 
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distance within 4-hours.  This leaves no time to perform the work.  Please confirm I am interpreting this note 
correctly.

ANSWER: Work should be completed on the aggregate surface for the majority of the work after the existing turf is pulled 
back.  Areas where turf is not being removed but is needed for construction access can have the protection in 
place as long as the ambient temperature is less than 75 degrees for a maximum of 72 hours.  The protection 
shall be moved to a different location or removed completely for the same amount of time it was in place to 
allow the fibers to relax.  Protection is for the subgrade and fibers. Any subgrade that has been compacted by 
construction equipment shall be scarified and recompacted per Certified Turf Contractor, engineer of record, or 
owner’s representative(s).

QUESTION: Please confirm grassy area immediately west of the varsity softball field is a suitable stockpile location.

ANSWER: The grassy area west of the varsity softball field is acceptable by the District as a stockpile location.  Cover to 
protect from run off to adjacent areas.

QUESTION: Are the existing CDF sidewall/chimney materials precast?
ANSWER: It is understood the existing CDF was poured to the depth needed for the sidewalls, cured, then excavated 

through the middle to the proper trench depth.  
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January 20, 2020 

 

Beaverton School District (BSD) 

Attn: Mr. Patrick O’Harrow 

16550 SW Merlo Road 

Beaverton, Oregon 97003 

 

Geotechnical Data Report 

Mountainside High School Softball Field  

12500 SW 175th Avenue 

Beaverton, Oregon 

 

CGT Project Number G1905187.A 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Carlson Geotechnical (CGT), a division of Carlson Testing, Inc. (CTI), is pleased to submit this geotechnical 

data report for the Mountainside High School Softball Field. The site is located at 12500 SW 175th Avenue in 

Beaverton, Oregon. The site is located at 12500 SW 175th Avenue in Beaverton, Oregon, as shown on the 

attached Site Location, Figure 1. This report was prepared in general accordance with Task 2 outlined in 

CGT Proposal GP8701, dated October 19, 2019.  Written authorization for our services was received on 

October 24, 2019. A draft version of this report was submitted to BSD on December 16, 2019. 

2.0 PROJECT INFORMATION 

CGT developed an understanding of site conditions within the subject athletic field based on information 

provided during a site meeting on October 1, 2019. Based on information provided, we understand that BSD 

observed drainage “blowouts” below an existing mechanically-stabilized earth (MSE) retaining wall located 

beyond (west/northwest) of the outfield of the existing softball field. Subsequent to the blowouts, we 

understand meetings were held and attended by BSD and several team members affiliated with original 

construction of the subject MSE retaining wall and athletic field. We further understand that BSD proceeded 

with two rounds of repairs, the first in 2017 and the second round in 2018. We understand the mitigation 

efforts in 2017 included excavation within a relatively narrow “band” within the outer portion of the entire 

softball field (along the outfield fence), placement of a layer of granular bentonite and backfilling with 

controlled density fill (CDF).  Subsequent to installation of the CDF, we understand trenching was performed 

to re-install the perforated collector pipe.  The trench was then backfilled with drain rock and synthetic turf 

materials were reinstalled. Subsequent to the 2017 repairs, the area comprising the buried bentonite 

experienced upward movement (heave). In 2018, we understand that repair efforts included temporarily 

removing the turf and lowering (i.e. cutting down) the affected area of the field to meet original design 

grades.  Subsequent to the 2018 repairs, we understand that BSD observed the affected area exhibited 

additional heave along the same “band”, resulting in an uneven playing surface in the outfield area.  

 

BSD requested geotechnical exploration of the area to help ascertain what can be expected in terms of 

future performance of the affected portion of the softball field, and help identify measure(s) that could be 

taken to mitigate further heave of the field, if necessary.  CGT previously performed a geotechnical review of 

provided documents related to the above construction and repair efforts (Task 1) and shared results with 

BSD in early November 2019.  
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3.0 SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Our scope of work under Task 2, as presented in the above referenced proposal, included the following: 
 

 Contact the Oregon Utilities Notification Center to mark the locations of public utilities within a 20-foot 

radius of our explorations at the site. CGT also subcontracted a private utility locator service to mark the 

locations of detectable private utilities within the same radius.  

 Explore subsurface conditions at the site by advancing five drilled borings to depths of about 6½ to 8½ 

feet below ground surface (bgs). Details of the subsurface investigation are presented in Appendix A.  

 Classify the soils encountered in the explorations in general accordance with ASTM D2488 (Visual-

Manual Procedure). 

 Conduct laboratory testing on selected samples obtained during site exploration. 

 Provide a site vicinity map and a site plan showing the locations of the explorations relative to existing 

site features. 

 Provide logs of the borings. 

 Provide this written data report summarizing the results of our site investigation and laboratory testing. 

4.0 SITE DESCRIPTION 

4.1 Site Surface Conditions 

The site consists of the Mountainside High School softball field located in the northwest area of the school 

grounds. The site was bordered by an MSE retaining wall to the north and west, and additional sports fields 

to the east and south. Outside of the affected (heaved) area of the softball field, the field was generally level 

to very gently descending to the northwest. Site layout and surface conditions at the time of our field 

investigation are shown on the attached Site Plan (Figure 2) and Site Photographs (Figure 3). 

4.2 Subsurface Conditions 

4.2.1 Subsurface Investigation 

Our subsurface investigation consisted of five drilled borings (B-1A, B-1B, B-1C, B-2, and B-3) completed on 

November 18, 2019. The approximate exploration locations are shown on the Site Plan, attached as 

Figure 2. In summary, the borings were advanced to depths ranging from about 6½ to 8½ feet bgs. Details 

regarding the subsurface investigation and logs of the explorations are presented in Appendix A.  Subsurface 

conditions encountered during our investigation are summarized below.  

4.2.2 Subsurface Materials 

Logs of the explorations are presented in Appendix A. The following describes each of the subsurface 

materials encountered at the site.  

 
Synthetic Turf Materials:  Synthetic turf was encountered at the surface of borings B-1A through B-3 and was 

about 2 inches thick. Foam board was encountered below the turf in each boring and was about ½ inch thick.  

The turf and foam had been pulled back prior to drilling activities by others.  

 

Poorly Graded Gravel Fill (GP Fill):  Underlying the synthetic turf materials in B-1A through B-3 was poorly 

graded gravel fill. The poorly graded gravel fill was typically gray, moist, angular, up to about 1½ inches in 
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diameter, and contained trace medium- to coarse-grained sand. This fill resembled drain rock and extended 

to depths of about 3 to 5 feet bgs.   

 

Controlled Density Fill:  Underlying the poorly graded gravel fill in each boring was controlled density fill 

(CDF). This cementitious material was generally brown, moist, and contained poorly graded medium-grained 

sand.  This fill extended to depths of about 4¼ to 5¼ feet bgs in borings B-1B through B-3. 

 

Bentonite Fill:  Underlying the CDF in B-1B through B-3 was bentonite fill. This material was light to dark 

gray, moist, and exhibited very high plasticity.  The fill contained trace angular gravel up to ½ inch in 

diameter in borings B-1B and B-1C and an isolated plastic fragment (resembling remnant pipe debris) about 

2 inches in diameter in boring B-3. The bentonite fill extended to depths of about 5 to 5¾ feet bgs in borings 

B-1B through B-3. 

 

Lean Clay Fill (CL Fill):  Underlying the poorly graded gravel fill in B-1A and the bentonite fill in B-1B through 

B-3 was lean clay fill. This fill was brown, moist, exhibited medium plasticity, and contained trace angular 

gravel up to ½ inch in diameter. The fill contained an isolated plastic fragment up to 1 inch in diameter in 

boring B1-B. The lean clay fill extended to the full depths explored, about 6½ to 8½ feet bgs. 

4.2.3 Groundwater 

Perched groundwater was encountered at a depth of about 5 feet bgs within boring B-2 on November 18, 

2019.  Groundwater was not encountered within the depths explored in the remaining borings.   

5.0 LABORATORY TESTING 

Laboratory testing was performed on representative samples collected in the field to provide a measure of 

the in-situ moisture and swell potential of the subsurface materials, notably the buried bentonite fill described 

above. Laboratory testing included nine moisture content determinations (ASTM D2216), and three one-

dimensional swell tests (ASTM D4546, Method “B”). Results of the moisture content tests are shown on the 

exploration logs presented in the attached Appendix A. Graphical plots of the swell tests are presented in the 

attached Appendix B. The swell tests were conducted utilizing a vertical stress equal to 520 pounds per 

square foot (psf); this value was selected to approximate the in-situ vertical stress experienced by the 

bentonite layer at the project site due to overlying earthen materials.   

6.0 LIMITATIONS 

This current assignment did not include services related to geotechnical engineering for site repairs or other 

design and construction related aspects of the project. Descriptions of earthen materials contained in this 

report were generated from field notes and brief visual examination. 

 

We have prepared this report for use by BSD.  The information and data contained within this report are not 

intended to be, nor should they be construed as a warranty of subsurface conditions, but are forwarded to 

assist in the planning and design process. 

 

We have made observations based on our explorations that indicate the soil conditions at only those specific 

locations and only to the depths penetrated. These observations do not necessarily reflect soil types, strata 

thickness, or water level variations that may exist between or away from our explorations. If subsurface 

conditions vary from those encountered in our site explorations, CGT should be alerted to the change in 
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NOTES: Drawing based on observations made while on
site and site plan “Varsity Softball Field”, dated April 4, 2019,
produced by Harper Houf Peterson Righellis, Inc.
All locations are approximate.
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MOUNTAINSIDE HIGH SCHOOL SOFTBALL FIELD - BEAVERTON, OREGON
Project Number G1905187.A
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Elevation benchmark - Assumed 100-foot elevation at the top of the
retaining wall.
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A.1.0 SUBSURFACE INVESTIGATION 

Our field investigation consisted of five drilled borings completed in November 2019. The exploration 

locations are shown on the Site Plan, attached to the geotechnical report as Figure 2. The exploration 

locations shown therein were determined based on measurements from existing site features (outfield fence, 

scoreboard, etc.) and are approximate. Surface elevations indicated on the logs were estimated based on a 

temporary benchmark (assumed 100-foot elevation at the top of the nearby retaining wall) shown on the 

referenced Site Plan and are approximate. The attached figures detail the exploration methods (Figure A1), 

soil classification criteria (Figure A2), and present detailed logs of the explorations (Figures A3 through A7), 

as discussed below. 

A.1.1 Drilled Borings 

CGT observed the advancement of five drilled borings (B-1A, B-1B, B1-C, B-2, and B-3) at the site on 

November 18, 2019, using a Geoprobe 7822DT track-mounted drill rig provided and operated by our 

subcontractor, Western States Soil Conservation of Hubbard, Oregon. The borings were advanced using the 

hollow-stem auger drilling technique to depths ranging from approximately 6½ to 8½ feet bgs. Upon 

completion, the borings were backfilled with drilling spoils.  Drilling wastes (cuttings) were disposed of offsite 

by our drilling subcontractor. 

A.1.2 In-Situ Testing - Standard Penetration Tests (SPTs) 

SPTs were conducted within the borings using a split-spoon sampler in general accordance with 

ASTM D1586. The SPTs were generally conducted at depths immediately below the advancement of Shelby 

tube samplers (described below) to the termination depths of the borings. The SPT is described on the 

attached Exploration Key, Figure A1.  

A.1.3 Material Classification & Sampling 

Soil samples were obtained at selected intervals in the borings using the referenced split-spoon (SPT) 

sampler and thin-walled, steel (Shelby) tube samplers, detailed on Figure A1. A qualified member of CGT’s 

geological staff collected the samples and logged the soils in general accordance with the Visual-Manual 

Procedure (ASTM D2488). An explanation of this classification system is attached as Figure A2. The SPT 

samples were stored in sealable plastic bags and the Shelby tube samples were sealed with caps and tape 

and transported to our soils laboratory for further examination and testing. Our geotechnical staff visually 

examined all samples in order to refine the initial field classifications.  

A.1.4 Subsurface Conditions 

Subsurface conditions are summarized in Section 2.2 of the geotechnical report. Detailed logs of the 

explorations are presented on the attached exploration logs, Figures A3 through A7.  



��������	�
���
��
���������	��

�
���	��

����
���

��������	
��������	�������	�������	����	��	����	�����

��������	
������������	�������	�������	����	��	����	�����

������������	
������������	�������	�������	����	��	����	�����

��� !�	
�!"�	
����

������� ������������	 ����	 ��	 �	 #���$#���	 ���������	 �#��	 ��������	 ��	�������������	 ��	 �#�	 ���������	 �����������	
�������#	��	����	���	�%���	����	
����	��	��#�����&	����$�������	������			

�������� ����� ������������	 
'���	 ����	 ��������	 ��	 �������	 �	 ()$����������	 ��������&	 #�������	 �����	 ����	��	*+$
����������	��������	�����	����	����	�#�	�����	����	�	*)$��������	����	#�����	���#	�	,+)$����������	����$����	#���#��		�#�	
����#	��	�����������	��	�����������	��	��������	���	���#	����	��	�#�	#������			

�� !���� �������� ����� ������������	 
-'���	 ����	 ��������	 ��	 �������	 *�*$���#	 ��������&	 �����	 ����	���#	 �	 *�,$���#	
��������&	����	���	����	�#�	�����	����	�	./$����	����	#�����	���#	�	*/$���#	����$����	#���#��		�#�	�����	��	�����	
��%����	��	�����	�#�	�����	����	��	��������	���	���#	*)	�����������	
.�0,	���#���	��	������������		�#�	����	����	���	���#	
��������	��	�#��	���������	��	�#�	�������������	1��	"+)	������		

�"� #���$#�	 ��	�	.$���#&	 �����$��������&	 �#��$������&	�����	 ���	��#	�������	 
21�3	'*/45�	���	 ��	�������	 ���������6	
���������	�������	��	����$�������	������	

����������%���������	

��!�&��!��� �&�����	��������	��������	��	.$���#&	������$��������&	�����$�����	�������	
21�3	7.//)�	������	��������6	��	
�#�	1��	��������	���#��	���������	������		2	�������	��������	����������	������	��	)�,,	��	�������	��	��������	�#�	�%��$
�����	1��	"+)	����	���	8������	���	9���&	*05.�	

����!��!� ������������ ��'�	 
1���	 ��������	 ��	 �������	 �	 ($���#&	 ������$��������&	 �����$�����	 �������	 ����	 �#�	 ����$
�����	���������	���#	��������	�����	��	�	*,)$����&	#�����	�������	�	��������	��������	��	.)	 ���#��	
21�3	'*/4+��	 	
�#�	�����	��	�����	
"$�����	��%����	��	�����	�#�	�������	�#�	����	*(	���#��	��	��	*4$���#	������	��������	��	���	��	
�#��������:�	�#�	����	����������6	��	��������	������6�		�#�	�����	���	���	�%�����	���#	��	���$#���	��	��������	#�����	��	
������	�#�	1����		�#�	��������	"$�����&	#�����	���������6&	���	"+)	���	�����	��	�#�	������	�����

7���	������

����������	�������	�#�	;�1�	1�������	"��	())	1����	
21�3	'**,)�

2��������	������	
���������6�	����	������	
21�3	',.*4�<	�8	=	�������	8����&		88	=	8�%��	8����&	���	3�=	3������	�������	

21�3	'((*+�


��	�	��
�����
�	���

"����	��������	������	��	�������	������

��������������	��	��������	������>��������	���������	
����	?	@���	A���	B	��	?	�������	A����	@�����	B�

�������

?	@�����	B

	��
�����������
���
������������

�() ��������*��

+,-./,0.12+,

@��	������@;8 

3	�4���
0��������	�
�����	�����	������������
���������������������
����������� ����!"#$!%&'��



����������	�
�������	
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������������ ���!"�
�������	

�����������������������������������#�����������������������$����%��������������"�
���&�'�(�)*(�������+(�,*-*(�./	
(���������'���������������������������(�0�'��1��� �2�����*�

����������	�
��
������������
�	��	


��	� ������
���������������
��������������������������������
������
�����������������
�����������
 �!����������������
 �!��	��������!���"������#����������������
 �$�����"�������"����������"� ���"����%�
�����$���
�������&��������

����������

'()**�+*%*,-���.

&����
�������
������

&����
������

/����0)����!���

1�������

�
�������������������������
���

����	���������	�

��2�

3*45����

�������

��2�

3*45����

2�����������
�!���������$�!

*%0/�4�*%)-

6)%**

*%)-�4�*%-*

*%-*�4�0%**

0%**�4�)%**

'*%0/

���7�����������
8���������

*%)-�4�*%-*

69%**

*%-*�4�0%**

0%**�4�)%**

)%**�4�9%**

'*%)-

�����������

����

:���

������������

�����

5���������

5��������

�������������������2���

2!���������������������0����!�

������������������������!��������

�

�

���������������������!��������

2!���������������������!���0����!�

)�4�9

6/*

�
��	�����
�	��	

����������	�����������$�����������������������������63�����!��7

����	���	� �����	����	 ����	���� 
�� ����

!�����������������������	�
�

�������
��������
�����	�

������!���
-*;����������
���
�%�)**�
�����

&���4��������
�����	�

-*;���������
�������
�%�
)**������

�������	�-*;���������
�����������
�!��
�%�9������

�����	�������!���
-*;���������!��

�%�9������

���������������
<�=������������&����

���������������
:�$!������������&����

������
�������

��������
=��!�&����

������
�����

������
=��!�&����

:�$!��� �$����������

�> >���4$������$�����������$�����?�������#�����"�������������������

�� ������4$������$�����������$�����?�������#�����"�������������������

�� ������$������"�$�����?����?�������#�����

�� �������$������"�$�����?����?�������#�����

�> >���4$����������������$�������������"�������������������

�� ������4$����������������$�������������"�������������������

�� �����������"�����?�������#�����

�� ������������"�����?�������#�����

�< @���$����������"����7������"�������������

�< @���$����������������=���������������������"�$�������������"������������"�����������

 <  �$���������������=�����������

�: @���$����������"�������������

�: @���$��������������!�$!�����������"����������

 :  �$�����������������������!�$!�����������

�2 ����"����7"�������!���!�$!�����$����������

9�4�A

A�4�0-

0-�4�/*

')

()**�4�(9*�+*%9)-���.�
(9*�4�(0*�+)���.�
(0*�4�(9�+9%,-.

����

�6�0)����!��

������
(9�4�*%,-����!�
*%,-����!�4�/����!��

�������

&����

*�4�9 5����<����

9�4�0* <����

0*�4�/* ������������

/*�4�-* �����

6-* 5���������

��B������������
������
�������

2�������
����

�	���	����

:���$������	����������������������������!���$!���

<�����	��:������������7����������������������"�������!��7�����

1���7�	����!������������!�������������7�����=���������������$�����������
��������������=!��!������������!�������7��=�

����7�������	����������"������!��"����$���������������������

&�������	��1���7������$�������������������������

<��������	������������$��������'�3�����!��7

�"�
�"�
�#�
�#


������<�=�
<�=�����������
����������:�$!�
����������:�$!


������<�=�
����������:�$!�
<�=�����������
:�$!����5����:�$!

���=����������

����������=�

����������=�


���

�
�������

<�=�����������
:�$!

>��	��5������������=����"���7�������������=�=����������

�����	��<������������������!����

���	���������������������"������"���������!������!

�
�������������	�
�

$%�%��	������������

&��������������
 ��������
���

���
���
��	�	���	�

��������
���5�����

���������� #�����

*�4�-;

-�4�0-;

0-�4�9C; ������������$���������

�''�"(���)�*���)+��,-#��-"

�-"(��)+�

������������������

��������
���5�����

���������� #�����

*�4�-;

0-�4�/*;
-�4�0-;

/*�4�9C; ������������$���������
�-"�,-#��)+�
�)+�(��-"

./0�1/2�34./

&-�$�*�)4��������	�
�����	�����	������������
���������������������
����������� ����!"#$!%&'�



0-1-0
(1) 1SPT

1 50

SYNTHETIC TURF:  2 inches thick.

FOAM BOARD:  ½ inch thick.
POORLY GRADED GRAVEL FILL:  Gray, moist,
angular up to 1½ inches in diameter, trace medium
to coarse sand.

LEAN CLAY FILL:  Very soft, brown, moist,
medium plasticity.

• Borehole terminated at 6½ feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving encountered.
• Borehole loosely backfilled with gravel fill.
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GROUND ELEVATION 100 ft ELEVATION DATUM Top of retaining wall = 100 feetDATE STARTED 11/18/19

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---

REVIEWED BY BMW

DRILLING METHOD Hollow Stem 4¼-inch ID Auger

EQUIPMENT Geoprobe 7822 DT

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Western State Soil Conservation

WEATHER 53 °F SURFACE Synthetic Turf
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1-1-2
(3) 3

SH
1

SPT
2

75

67

SYNTHETIC TURF:  2 inches thick.
FOAM BOARD:  ½ inch thick.
POORLY GRADED GRAVEL FILL:  Gray, moist,
angular up to 1½ inches in diameter, trace medium
to coarse sand.

CONTROLLED DENSITY FILL:  Brown, moist,
medium-grained sand. Depth inferred by faster drill
speed and driller indicating smooth drilling
conditions.

BENTONITE FILL:  Light to dark gray, moist,
high plasticity, trace angular gravel up to ½ inch in
diameter.

LEAN CLAY FILL:  Soft, brown, moist, medium
plasticity, isolated black plastic fragment up to 1
inch in diameter and 9 inches in length at 5¼ feet
bgs.

• Borehole terminated at 7½ feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving encountered.
• Borehole loosely backfilled with gravel fill.
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GROUND ELEVATION 100 ft ELEVATION DATUM Top of retaining wall = 100 feetDATE STARTED 11/18/19

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---

REVIEWED BY BMW

DRILLING METHOD Hollow Stem 4¼-inch ID Auger

EQUIPMENT Geoprobe 7822 DT

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Western State Soil Conservation

WEATHER 53 °F SURFACE Synthetic Turf
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1-1-5
(6) 6

SH
1
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50

SYNTHETIC TURF:  2 inches thick.
FOAM BOARD:  ½ inch thick.
POORLY GRADED GRAVEL FILL:  Gray, moist,
angular up to 1½ inches in diameter, trace medium
to coarse sand.

CONTROLLED DENSITY FILL:  Brown, moist,
medium-grained sand. Depth inferred by faster drill
speed and driller indicating smooth drilling
conditions.

BENTONITE FILL:  Light to dark gray, moist,
high plasticity, trace angular gravel up to ½ inch in
diameter.

LEAN CLAY FILL:  Soft to medium stiff, brown,
moist, medium plasticity.

• Borehole terminated at 7½ feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving encountered.
• Borehole loosely backfilled with gravel fill.
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GROUND ELEVATION 100 ft ELEVATION DATUM Top of retaining wall = 100 feetDATE STARTED 11/18/19

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---

REVIEWED BY BMW

DRILLING METHOD Hollow Stem 4¼-inch ID Auger

EQUIPMENT Geoprobe 7822 DT

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Western State Soil Conservation

WEATHER 53 °F SURFACE Synthetic Turf
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2-2-5
(7) 7

SH
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50

SYNTHETIC TURF:  2 inches thick.
FOAM BOARD:  ½ inch thick.
POORLY GRADED GRAVEL FILL:  Gray, moist,
angular up to 1½ inches in diameter, trace medium
to coarse sand.

CONTROLLED DENSITY FILL:  Brown, moist,
medium-grained sand, trace angular gravel up to 1
inch in diameter.  Depth inferred by faster drill
speed and driller indicating smooth drilling
conditions.

BENTONITE FILL:  Light to dark gray, moist,
high plasticity.

LEAN CLAY FILL:  Medium stiff, brown, moist,
medium plasticity, trace angular gravel up to ½
inch in diameter.

• Borehole terminated at 8½ feet bgs.
• Perched groundwater encountered at 5 feet bgs.
• No caving encountered.
• Borehole loosely backfilled with gravel fill.
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GROUND ELEVATION 100 ft ELEVATION DATUM Top of retaining wall = 100 feetDATE STARTED 11/18/19

SEEPAGE 5.0 ft / El. 95.0 ft

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---

REVIEWED BY BMW

DRILLING METHOD Hollow Stem 4¼-inch ID Auger

EQUIPMENT Geoprobe 7822 DT

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Western State Soil Conservation

WEATHER 53 °F SURFACE Synthetic Turf
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1-1-3
(4) 4

SH
1
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88

72

SYNTHETIC TURF:  2 inches thick.
FOAM BOARD:  ½ inch thick.
POORLY GRADED GRAVEL FILL:  Gray, moist,
angular up to 1½ inches in diameter, trace medium
to coarse sand.

CONTROLLED DENSITY FILL:  Brown, moist,
medium-grained sand. Depth inferred by faster drill
speed and driller indicating smooth drilling
conditions.

BENTONITE FILL:  Light to dark gray, moist,
high plasticity, isolated black plastic fragment up to
2 inches in diameter at 4¼ feet bgs.

LEAN CLAY FILL:  Soft to medium stiff, brown,
moist, medium plasticity.

• Borehole terminated at 7½ feet bgs.
• No groundwater or caving encountered.
• Borehole loosely backfilled with gravel fill.
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LOGGED BY MMS

GROUND ELEVATION 100 ft ELEVATION DATUM Top of retaining wall = 100 feetDATE STARTED 11/18/19

SEEPAGE ---

GROUNDWATER AT END ---

GROUNDWATER AFTER DRILLING ---

REVIEWED BY BMW

DRILLING METHOD Hollow Stem 4¼-inch ID Auger

EQUIPMENT Geoprobe 7822 DT

DRILLING CONTRACTOR Western State Soil Conservation

WEATHER 53 °F SURFACE Synthetic Turf
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